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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as 
the 'Group') consisting of Peregrine Gold Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 'parent entity') and the entities it 
controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2024. 

Directors 
The names and details of the Group's directors in office at any time during, or since the end of, the financial year are: 

Mr Brian Thomas  Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr George Merhi  Technical Director 
Mr Anees Sabet   Non-Executive Director 

Unless otherwise stated, Directors held their office from 1 July 2023 until the date of this report. 

Information on directors 
Name:  Mr Brian Thomas 
Title:  Chairman 
Qualifications: B.Sc, MBA, Grad Cert App Fin, MAusIMM, MAICD, SAFin
Experience and expertise: Mr Thomas is an experienced Company Director and Corporate Executive with

significant domestic and international resources management experience. Mr Thomas 
also spent 15 years in the financial services sector with executive roles in corporate 
stockbroking, investment banking and banking.

He has more than 35 years of mining and exploration industry experience covering a 
broad range of commodities from precious, base and battery metals, bulk and industrial 
minerals, diamonds plus oil and gas. 

Mr Thomas graduated from the University of Adelaide with a BSc in Geology and Mineral 
Economics, the University of Western Australia Business School with an MBA and the 
Securities Institute of Australia (now FinSIA) with a Certificate in Applied Finance and 
Investment. 

Other current directorships:  Technical Director Lanthanein Resources Limited (Appointed 22 October 2021) 
Former directorships (last 3 years):  Non-Executive Chairman Azure Minerals Limited (Resigned 9 May 2024) 
Interests in shares:  N/A 
Interests in options:  600,000 unlisted options exercisable at $0.85 each on or before 31 December 2025. 
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Name:  Mr George Merhi 
Title:  Technical Director 
Qualifications:  B.AppSc, DipEd, Cert 4 (Workplace Training & Assessment), MAusIMM 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Merhi is a geologist with over 35 years’ of extensive experience and knowledge spent 

working in the Pilbara region. Mr Merhi previously held the position of Exploration 
Manager for both the Creasy Group and Novo Resources Limited and was responsible 
for identifying significant gold and iron ore occurrences throughout his time with both 
companies across their Pilbara tenements. Most recently, Mr Merhi has been involved 
in a number of junior exploration mining companies including Thor Mining PLC and 
Kairos Minerals Limited.  
 
Mr Merhi was appointed Technical Director of the Company on 19 March 2021. During 
the three year period to the end of the financial year, Mr Merhi has not held any other 
ASX directorships. 

Other current directorships:  N/A 
Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Interests in shares:  7,756,373 ordinary shares 
Interests in options:  400,000 Unlisted incentive options exercisable at $0.40 each on or before 19 March 

2025; 
100,000 Class A Performance Shares, expiring 27 August 2026; 
150,000 Class B Performance Shares, expiring 27 August 2026;  
607,703 Listed options exercisable at $0.55 each on or before 31 March 2026;  
500,000 Unlisted incentive options exercisable at $0.40 each on or before 24 November 
2026;  
500,000 Unlisted incentive options exercisable at $0.60 each on or before 24 November 
2026; 
500,000 Unlisted incentive options exercisable at $0.80 each on or before 24 November 
2026.     

  
Name:  Mr Anees Sabet 
Title:  Non-Executive Director 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Sabet is an established businessman with a track record of identifying and 

developing resources projects. Prior to his involvement in the resources sector, Mr 
Sabet was a founding member and executive general manager at Catch.com.au from 
start-up until 2015, leading the Catch business from startup to over $200m in annual 
revenue. 

Other current directorships:  Non-Executive Director Lanthanein Resources Limited (appointed 6 December 2023) 
Former directorships (last 3 years):  N/A 
Interests in shares:  6,011,042 ordinary shares 
Interests in options:  900,000 Class A Performance Shares, expiring 27 August 2026;  

1,350,000 Class B Performance Shares, expiring 27 August 2026; and  
337,500 Listed options exercisable at $0.55 each on or before 31 March 2026. 

 

Company secretaries 
Mr Steven Wood  
Qualification: B.Com, CA  
 
Mr Wood is a qualified Chartered Accountant and was appointed 14 March 2022. Mr Wood specialises in corporate advisory, 
company secretarial and financial management services. He is a Chartered Accountant, and has been involved in various 
private and seed capital raisings as well as successful ASX listings, whilst also providing company secretarial and financial 
management services to both ASX and unlisted public and private companies. 
 
Mr Tom O’Rourke  
Qualification: B.Com, CA, M.Sc  
 
Mr O’Rourke is a Chartered Accountant with over 12 years’ experience in both private and public companies. More recently 
Mr O’Rourke has specialised in corporate advisory, company secretarial and financial management services for ASX listed 
companies. Mr O’Rourke is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand holding a Bachelor of Commerce 
from the University of Western Australia, and a Masters in Project Management from Curtin University. 
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Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Group during the year consisted of the exploration for minerals. 

Operating and Financial Review 
EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES 

Newman Gold Project 

Exploration 

Peregrine completed an RC drill programme focused solely on the Tin Can prospect with 31 holes for a total of 1,680 metres 
drilled. A total of 458 four metre composite samples including duplicates, standards and blanks were submitted for laboratory 
testing for gold and multi-element analysis. Drill hole depths ranged from 24 to 100 metres with all holes intersecting saprolitic 
clays or saprock. 

Significant intersects included: 

24KRC 2  4 metres @ 1.43 g/t from 32 to 36 metres & 
4 metres @ 10.42 g/t from 36 to 40 metres 

24KRC 4  4 metres @ 1.14 g/t from 16 to 20 metres 
24KRC 7  4 metres @ 4.78 g/t from 20 to 24 metres 
24KRC 9  4 metres @ 1.29 g/t from 28 to 32 metres 
24KRC 11  4 metres @ 10.82 g/t from 32 to 36 metres  
24KRC 12  4 metres @ 4.72 g/t from 40 to 44 metres  
24KRC 14  4 metres @ 11.35 g/t from 28 to 32 metres 
24KRC 20  4 metres @ 1.41 g/t from 44 to 48 metres 
(ASX: PGD 26 June 2024) 

Further drilling was planned to follow-up on these drill results subsequent to year end. 

Regional Consolidation 

Peregrine added seven (7) tenements adjoining and surrounding its existing landholding at the Newman Gold Project (ASX: 
PGD 12 December 2023). The tenements were acquired from FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Fortescue Metals Group 
Limited (ASX: FMG). The tenements were acquired for upfront consideration of A$100,000. Peregrine added three (3) 
tenements to its landholding adjoining the Newman Gold Project (ASX: PGD 23 January 2024) to further expand the Project’s 
footprint. 

The acquisition of these tenements continues to consolidate the Project’s footprint in the high prospective Newman area. In 
total the Company’s land tenure at the Newman Gold Project will cover over 1,000 square kilometres.  
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Figure 1: Newman Gold Project prospect locations 

Mallina Gold Project 

Peregrine flew an Airborne Electromagnetic (AEM) survey at the Mallina Project (ASX: 4 July 2023) to test for conductive 
sulphides associated with mafic and ultramafic intrusions within the Mallina Gold Project. 

The AEM identified anomalies which were coincident with strong magnetic anomalies, strong gravity anomalies and 
anomalous Cu-PGM geochemistry. The Company has identified targets which are advancing to drill testing and DHEM 
surveys, subject to heritage surveys and POW approval.  

An ARMIT Moving Loop EM (MLEM) survey was completed to significantly improve the depth of investigation for conductive 
sulphides associated with a large 3500 x 2500 m gravity anomaly. A discrete late-time anomaly was interpreted in three MLEM 
lines. Two Fixed Loop EM lines were completed to improve the MLEM anomalies resolution. 

The anomalies are not well constrained and are in an area with historical drilling with anomalism as discussed above. 
Therefore, to advance the exploration, high resolution downhole (DHEM) data is needed to reconcile against drilling. 



Peregrine Gold Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2024 
 

7 

Figure 2: Mallina Gold Project tenement locations 

Pilgangoora North Lithium Project 

During the year the results to an infill soil sampling programme at Pilgangoora North, comprising 116 sites for 232 samples 
(ASX: PGD 16 October 2023) was released. This programme was a follow up to reconnaissance soil sampling completed and 
announced in August 2023 (ASX: PGD 28 August 2023). 

An additional 156 sites were tested for 312 samples (ASX: PGD 23 November 2023). 

Results from the soil sampling programme has strengthened the main central pegmatite soil anomaly and extended the lithium 
anomaly over a north-south strike length of over 1 kilometre. 
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Figure 3: Pilgangoora North Lithium Regional Location Plan 
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Project Locations Map 

  

 
  

Figure 4: Peregrine Gold Limited project locations 
 

Compliance Statement 
The information in this report that relates to prior Exploration Results are extracted from the ASX Announcements which are 
available on the Company website http://www.peregrinegold.com.au and the ASX website (ASX code: PGD) 

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information included in 
the original market announcement and that all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the estimates in 
the market announcements continue to apply and have not materially changed.  The Company confirm that form and context 
in which the Competent Person’s finding are presented have not been materially modified from the original market 
announcements. 
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CORPORATE 
  
Underwritten exercise of listed options 
  
The Company announced it had entered into an underwriting agreement (Agreement) with Argonaut PCF Limited to underwrite 
the exercise of Listed Options which were exercisable at A$0.20 on or before 24 December 2023 (ASX: PGD 21 December 
2023).  
  
Under the Agreement, 1,768,887 Options were converted to ordinary shares in the Company to raise approximately 
A$353,777 (before costs).  
  
Business Development 
  
Several additional opportunities have been reviewed during the year, and the Group will continue in its efforts to identify and 
acquire suitable new business opportunities in the resources sector, both domestically and overseas. However, no agreements 
have been reached or licences granted and the Directors are not able to assess the likelihood or timing of a successful 
acquisition or grant of any opportunities. 
  

Business Strategies and Prospects for Future Financial Years 
  
The objective of the Group is to create long-term shareholder value through the discovery, development and acquisition of 
technically and economically viable mineral deposits.  
  
To date, the Group has not commenced production of any minerals, nor has it identified a Mineral Resource in accordance 
with the JORC Code. To achieve its objective, the Group currently intends over the medium term to conduct further exploration 
activities including field work to follow up targets identified at the Newman Gold Project.  
  
These activities are inherently risky, and the Board is unable to provide certainty of the expected results of these activities, or 
that any or all of these likely developments will be achieved.  
 

Material Business Risks 
The material business risks for the Group include:  
  
Exploration and Operating Risk  
The tenements in which the Company has an interest (Tenements) are still subject to exploration. Mineral exploration and 
development are high-risk undertakings and there can be no assurance that future exploration of the Tenements, or any other 
mineral licences that may be acquired in the future will result in the discovery of an economic resource. Even if an apparently 
viable resource is identified, there is no guarantee that it can be economically exploited.  
 
The future exploration activities of the Company may be affected by a range of factors including geological conditions, 
limitations on activities due to seasonal weather patterns or adverse weather conditions, unanticipated operational and 
technical difficulties, difficulties in commissioning and operating plant and equipment, mechanical failure or plant breakdown, 
unanticipated metallurgical problems which may affect extraction costs, industrial and environmental accidents, industrial 
disputes, unexpected shortages and increases in the costs of consumables, spare parts, plant, equipment and staff, native 
title process, changing government regulations and many other factors beyond the control of the Company. The success of 
the Company will depend upon:  
(i) the Company’s ability to maintain title to the Tenements;  
(ii) the Company being able to delineate economically mineable resources and reserves;  
(iii) positive movements in the price of platinum group metals and exchange rate fluctuations;  
(iv) the Company obtaining all consents and approvals (including environmental approvals) necessary to conduct its 
exploration activities; and  
(v) the successful management of development operations.  
 
In the event that Company’s exploration programs prove to be unsuccessful, this could lead to a diminution in the value of the 
Tenements, a reduction in the cash reserves of the Company and possible relinquishment of Tenements.  
 
Until the Company is able to realise value from its Tenements, it is likely to incur ongoing operating losses.  
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Resources and Reserves  
There are currently no Reserve estimates in respect of any of the Tenements. Reserve and Resource estimates are 
expressions of judgement based on knowledge, experience and industry practice. Estimates which were valid when initially 
calculated may alter significantly when new information or techniques become available. In addition, by their very nature 
Resource and Reserve estimates are imprecise and depend to some extend on interpretations which may prove to be 
inaccurate.  
  
Commodity Price Volatility and Exchange Rate Risk 
If the Company achieves success leading to mineral production, the revenue it will derive through the sale of commodities 
exposes the potential income of the Company to commodity price and exchange rate risks. Commodity prices fluctuate and 
are affected by many factors beyond the control of the Company. Such factors include supply and demand fluctuations for 
platinum group metals, technological advancements, forward selling activities and other macroeconomic factors (such as 
inflation, interest rates, currency exchange rates and global and regional demand for, and supply of platinum group metals).  
 
Furthermore, international prices of various commodities are denominated in United States dollars, whereas the income and 
expenditure of the Company are and will be taken into account in Australian currency, exposing the Company to the 
fluctuations and volatility of the rate of exchange between the United States dollar and the Australian dollar as determined in 
international markets.  
  
Environmental Risks  
The operations and proposed activities of the Company in Australia are subject to State and Federal laws and regulation 
concerning the environment. As with most exploration projects and mining operations, the Company’s activities are expected 
to have an impact on the environment, particularly if advanced exploration or mine development proceeds. It is the Company’s 
intention to conduct its activities to the highest standard of environmental obligation, including compliance with all 
environmental laws. 
 
There is also a risk that environmental laws and regulations may become more onerous, making the Company’s operations 
more expensive. 
  
Title Risks and Native Title 
Interests in tenements in Australia are governed by the respective State legislation and are evidenced by the granting of 
licences or leases. Each licence or lease is for a specific term and carries with it annual expenditure and reporting 
commitments, as well as other conditions requiring compliance. Consequently, the Company could lose title to or its interest 
in its Tenements if licence conditions are not met or if insufficient funds are available to meet expenditure commitments. 
Additionally, the Tenements are subject to periodic renewal. There is no guarantee that current or future tenements and/or 
applications for tenements or renewal of tenements will be approved. 
 
It is also possible that, in relation to tenements which the Company has an interest in or will in the future acquire such an 
interest, there may be areas over which legitimate common law native title rights of Aboriginal Australians exist. In respect of 
any other tenements that the Company may acquire, if native title rights do exist, the ability of the Company to gain access to 
tenements (through obtaining consent of any relevant landowner), or to progress from the exploration phase to the 
development and mining phases of operations may be adversely affected. 
 
The Directors will closely monitor the potential effect of native title claims involving tenements in which the Company has or 
may have an interest.  
  
Exploration Costs 
The exploration costs of the Company are based on certain assumptions with respect to the method and timing of exploration. 
By their nature, these estimates and assumptions are subject to significant uncertainty, and accordingly, the actual costs may 
materially differ from the estimates and assumptions. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the cost estimates and the 
underlying assumptions will be realised in practice, which may materially and adversely affect the Company’s viability.  
  



Peregrine Gold Limited 
Directors' report 
30 June 2024 
 

  

  
12 

Mine Development  
Possible future development of mining operations at the Tenements is dependent on a number of factors including, but not 
limited to, the acquisition and/or delineation of economically recoverable mineralisation, favourable geological conditions, 
receiving the necessary approvals from all relevant authorities and parties, seasonal weather patterns, unanticipated technical 
and operational difficulties encountered in extraction and production activities, mechanical failure of operating plant and 
equipment, shortages or increases in the price of consumables, spare parts and plant and equipment, cost overruns, access 
to the required level of funding and contracting risk from third parties providing essential services. 
 
If the Company commences production on any of the Tenements, its operations may be disrupted by a number of risks and 
hazards which are beyond the control of the Company. No assurance can be given that the Company will achieve commercial 
viability through the development of the Projects.  
 
The risks associated with the development of a mine will be considered in full, should the Tenements reach that stage.  
  
Information Accuracy Risk 
The Company has acquired mining information in relation to its Tenements compiled by previous explorers. Any inaccuracies 
in that information could adversely affect the Company’s ability to implement its planned exploration program.  
  
Climate 
There are a number of climate related factors that may affect the operations and proposed activities of the Company, including, 
the emergence of new or expanded regulations associated with the transitioning to a lower-carbon economy and market 
challenges related to climate change mitigation. The Company may be impacted by changes to local or international 
compliance regulations related to climate change mitigation efforts, or by specific taxation or penalties for carbon emissions 
or environmental damage. While the Company will endeavour to manage these risks and limit any consequential impacts, 
there can be no guarantee that the Company will not be impacted by these occurrences. 
 
Climate change may also cause certain physical and environmental risks that cannot be predicted by the Company, including 
events such as increased severity of weather patterns and incidence of extreme weather events and longer-term physical 
risks such as shifting climate patterns. All these risks associated with climate change may significantly change the industry in 
which the Company operates. 
 

Review of operations 
The loss for the Group after providing for income tax amounted to $3,923,049 (30 June 2023: $4,146,142). 
  
This loss is predominately comprised of $2,735,100 of exploration and evaluation expenditure, attributable to the Group's 
accounting policy of expensing exploration and evaluation expenditure (other than expenditures incurred in the acquisition of 
the rights to explore). In the current year, the net loss also includes share based payments expenses totalling $240,189 relating 
to incentive options. The fair value of the incentive options is recognised over the vesting period of the option.   
 

Review of financial position 
As at 30 June 2024, the Group had a net current asset surplus of $1,448,050 (30 June 2023: $3,141,979). At  30 June 2024, 
the Group had cash reserves of $1,911,475 (30 June 2023: $3,492,172) and borrowings of nil ( 30 June 2023 : nil). At   30 
June 2024 , the Group had net assets of $5,989,035 (30 June 2023 : $7,301,272). 
 

Dividends 
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 
 

Additional information 
  2024  2023 
     
Basic and Diluted loss per share ($ per share)  0.06  0.08 
 

Environmental regulations and performance 
The Group's operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations under the relevant government's legislation. 
Full compliance with these laws and regulations is regarded as a minimum standard for all operations to achieve.  
 
Instances of environmental non-compliance by an operation are identified either by external compliance audits or inspections 
by relevant government authorities. There have been no known breaches of environmental laws and regulations by 
the Group during the financial year.  
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Meetings of directors 
The number of meetings of the Board held during the year ended 30 June 2024, and the number of meetings attended by 
each director were: 
  

 
 Board 

Meetings 
 Board 

Meetings 

 
 Eligible to 

Attend 
 

Attended 
     
Mr Brian Thomas  3  3 
Mr Anees Sabet  3  3 
Mr George Merhi  3  3 
  
There were no Board committees during the financial year. The Board as a whole currently performs the functions of an Audit 
Committee, Risk Committee, Nomination Committee, and Remuneration Committee, however this will be reviewed should the 
size and nature of the Company’s activities change.  
 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the year ended 30 June 2024 not otherwise 
disclosed. 
 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 

Remuneration report (audited) 
This Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors' Report, sets out information about the remuneration of Key 
Management Personnel (“KMP”) of the Company. 
  
Details of Key Management Personnel: 
●  Mr Brian Thomas Non-Executive Chairman  
●  Mr George Merhi Technical Director 
●  Mr Anees Sabet Non-Executive Director 
  
Unless otherwise disclosed, the KMP held their position from 1 July 2023 until the date of this report.  
 

Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the securities of Peregrine Gold Limited are:  
  
Shareholding 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and other members of key management 
personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  
  Balance at   Received   Purchase/  Balance on  Balance at  
  the start of   as part of   on Open  resignation/  the end of  
  the year   remuneration  Market1,2  retirement  the year 
Ordinary shares           
Mr Brian Thomas  -  -  -  -  - 
Mr George Merhi  6,974,707  -  781,666  -  7,756,373 
Mr Anees Sabet   4,976,042  -  1,035,000  -  6,011,042 

  11,950,749  -  1,816,666  -  13,767,415 

  
1 Acquired on the exercise and conversion of 481,666 listed options and 300,000 unlisted options relates to George Merhi. 
2 Acquired on the exercise and conversion of 1,035,000 listed options relates to Anees Sabet. 
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Performance shares holding 
The number of performance rights over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director and 
other members of key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 
  
  Balance at       Expired/   Balance at  
  the start of       forfeited/   the end of  
  the year  Granted  Exercised  other  the year 
Rights over ordinary shares1           
George Merhi  250,000  -  -  -  250,000 
Anees Sabet  2,250,000  -  -  -  2,250,000 

  2,500,000  -  -  -  2,500,000 

  
Vesting Conditions: 
  
(i)  Class A performance shares, vest and convert into fully paid ordinary shares upon the delineation of an independently 

assessed JORC Code inferred resource of at least 500,000 ounces of gold at a minimum resource grade of 1g/t Au (or 
equivalent, with a cut-off grade of 0.5g/t) at the Mallina Project by 27 August 2026; and 

(ii)  Class B performance shares, vest and convert into fully paid ordinary shares upon the delineation of an independently 
assessed JORC Code inferred resource of at least 1,000,000 ounces of gold at a minimum resource grade of 1g/t Au (or 
equivalent, with a cut-off grade of 0.5g/t) at the Mallina Project by 27 August 2026. 

  
1 Each Performance Right is exercisable into one (1) fully paid ordinary share upon and from the date of satisfaction of the 
relevant vesting condition until their expiry date. 
  
      Balance at  
  Vested and   Unvested  the end of  
  exercisable    the year 
Options over ordinary shares       
Mr Brian Thomas   600,000  -  600,000 
Mr George Merhi  3,807,703  -  3,807,703 
Mr Anees Sabet   337,500  -  337,500 

  4,745,203  -  4,745,203 

  
  Balance at          Balance at 
  the start of  Granted  Exercised3  Vested and  Unvested  the end of 
  the year      exercisable    the year 
             
Options over ordinary shares2             
Mr Brian Thomas  600,000    -  -   600,000  -  600,000 
Mr George Merhi  3,089,369  1,500,000   (781,666)  3,807,703  -  3,807,703 
Mr Anees Sabet  1,372,500  -  (1,035,000)  337,500  -  337,500 

  5,061,869    1,500,000  (1,816,666)  4,745,203  -  4,745,203 

  
2 Each Listed Option is convertible into one (1) fully paid ordinary share upon the payment of an exercise amount until their 
expiry date.  
 
3 481,666 Options were exercised at $0.20 for a total of $96,333, 300,000 Options were exercised at $0.25 for a total of 
$75,000 and 1,035,000 Options were exercised at $0.20 for a total of $207,000.  
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Remuneration Policy 
The Company’s remuneration policy for its KMP has been developed by the Board taking into account the size of the Company, 
the size of the management team for the Company, the nature and stage of development of the Company’s current operations, 
and market conditions and comparable salary levels for companies of a similar size and operating in similar sectors. In addition 
to considering the above general factors, the Board has also placed emphasis on the following specific issues in determining 
the remuneration policy for KMP:  
  
●  the Company is currently focussed on undertaking exploration, appraisal and development activities;   
●  risks associated with small cap resource companies whilst exploring and developing projects; and  
●  other than profit which may be generated from asset sales, the Company does not expect to be undertaking profitable 

operations until sometime after the commencement of commercial production of the project. 
  
Remuneration Policy for Executives   
  
The Company’s remuneration policy is to provide a fixed remuneration component and a performance based component 
(short term incentive and long term incentive). The Board believes that this remuneration policy is appropriate given the 
considerations discussed in the section above and is appropriate in aligning executives’ objectives with shareholder and 
business objectives.  
  
Fixed Remuneration 
Fixed remuneration consists of base salary, as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds and other non-cash 
benefits.  
 
Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board. The process consists of a review of Company and individual 
performance, relevant comparative remuneration externally and internally and, where appropriate, external advice on policies 
and practices.  
  
Performance Based Remuneration – Short Term Incentive  
Some executives are entitled to an annual cash incentive payment upon achieving various key performance indicators (“KPI”), 
as set by the Board. Having regard to the current size, nature and opportunities of the Company, the Board has determined 
that these KPIs will include measures such as successful commencement and/or completion of exploration activities (e.g. 
commencement/completion of exploration programs within budgeted timeframes and costs), establishment of government 
relationships (e.g. establish and maintain sound working relationships with government and officialdom), development 
activities (e.g. completion of infrastructure studies and commercial agreements), corporate activities (e.g. recruitment of key 
personnel and representation of the company at international conferences) and business development activities (e.g. 
corporate transactions and capital raisings).  
 
These measures were chosen as the Board believes they represent the key drivers in the short and medium term success of 
the Project’s development. On an annual basis, subsequent to year end, the Board assesses performance against each 
individual executive’s KPI criteria. During the year ended 30 June 2024, no cash bonuses were approved or paid to any KMP 
for the achievement of KPIs set by the Board (2023: $0). For the 2024 year, the KPI areas of focus included: (a) completion 
of successful exploration activities; (b) identification and reporting on prospects and drill targets; and (c) comparison of 
remuneration of executives at other early stage resource exploration companies. Specific KPIs are set and weighted 
individually for each KMP and are designed to drive successful business outcomes. 
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Performance Based Remuneration – Long Term Incentive  
The Board has or may issue incentive securities to some executives (if applicable) as a key component of the incentive portion 
of their remuneration, in order to attract and retain the services of any executives and to provide an incentive linked to the 
performance of the Company. The Board considers that for each executive who has or may receive securities in the future, 
their experience in the resources industry will greatly assist the Company in progressing its projects to the next stage of 
development and the identification of new projects. As such, the Board believes that the number of incentive securities to be 
granted to any executives will be commensurate to their value to the Company.  
 
The Board has a policy of granting incentive securities to executives (if applicable) with exercise prices at and/or above market 
share price (at the time of agreement). As such, incentive securities granted to executives will generally only be of benefit if 
the executives perform to the level whereby the value of the Company increases sufficiently to warrant exercising the incentive 
securities granted. 
 
Other than service-based vesting conditions, there are not expected to be additional performance criteria if incentive securities 
are granted to executives, as given the speculative nature of the Company’s activities and the small management team 
responsible for its running, it is considered the performance of the executives and the performance and value of the Company 
are closely related. If other forms of incentive securities are issued, then performance milestones may be applied. The 
Company’s Securities Trading Policy prohibits KMP from entering into arrangements to limit their exposure to Incentive 
Securities granted as part of their remuneration package. 
 
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group issued 1,500,000 incentive options to a key management personnel, being 
the Technical Director.  
  
Remuneration Policy for Non-Executive Directors  
The Board policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at or below market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. Given the current size, nature and risks of the Company, incentive securities may be used 
to attract and retain Non-Executive Directors. The Board determines payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews 
their remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when 
required. 
 
The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by shareholders 
at a General Meeting. Total Directors' fees paid to all Non-Executive Directors are not to exceed $250,000 per annum. 
Director's fees paid to Non-Executive Directors accrue on a daily basis. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the 
performance of the entity. However, to align Directors' interests with shareholder interests, the Directors are encouraged to 
hold shares in the Company and Non-Executive Directors may in limited circumstances receive incentive securities in order 
to secure their services. 
 
Fees for the Chairman are presently $55,000 and fees for other Non-Executive Directors were $36,000 per annum plus 
superannuation for the year ended 30 June 2024. These fees cover main board activities only. Non-Executive Directors may 
receive additional remuneration for other services provided to the Company. 
  
Relationship between Remuneration of KMP and Shareholder Wealth  
During the Company’s project identification, acquisition, exploration and development phases of its business, the Board 
anticipates that the Company will retain earnings (if any) and other cash resources for the exploration and development of its 
resource projects. Accordingly, the Company does not currently have a policy with respect to the payment of dividends and 
returns of capital. Therefore, there is no relationship between the Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of 
remuneration of KMP and dividends paid and returns of capital by the Company during the current and previous financial 
years. 
 
The Board did not determine the nature and amount of remuneration of the KMP by reference to changes in the price at which 
shares in the Company traded between the beginning and end of the current financial year. Discretionary annual cash 
bonuses, when applicable, will be based on achieving various non-financial key performance indicators to be determined by 
the Board. However, as noted above, KMP’s may receive Incentive Securities which generally will only be of value should the 
value of the Company’s shares increase sufficiently to warrant exercising the Incentive Securities. 
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Relationship between Remuneration of KMP and Earnings  
As discussed above, the Company is currently undertaking new project acquisition, exploration and development activities, 
and does not expect to be undertaking profitable operations (other than by way of material asset sales, none of which are 
currently planned) until sometime after the successful commercialisation, production and sales of commodities from one or 
more of its projects. Accordingly, the Board does not consider earnings during the current and previous financial years when 
determining the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP. 
  
In addition, to a focus on operating activities, the Board is also focused on finding and completing new business and other 
corporate opportunities. The Board considers that the prospects of the Company and resulting impact on shareholder wealth 
will be enhanced by this approach. Accordingly, a bonus may be paid upon the successful completion of a new business or 
corporate transaction. No bonuses were paid to Directors of the Company during the financial year. 
 
Where required, KMP receive superannuation contributions, currently equal to 11% of their salary, and do not receive any 
other retirement benefit. This amount increased to 11.5% commencing 1 July 2024.  
 
All remuneration provided to KMP is valued at cost to the company and expensed. Incentive securities are valued using the 
Black Scholes option methodology. The value of these incentive securities is expensed over the vesting period. 
 

Details of remuneration 
Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each director and KMP of the Company for the year 
ended 30 June 2024 is as follows:  
  

 

 

Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 

 
Share-based 

payments 

 

 

 

 
                  
  Cash salary  Other  Super-  Equity-    Performance  
  and fees    annuation  settled  Total  Related 
 30 June 2024   $  $  $  $   $   % 
             
Directors:             
Mr Brian Thomas1  55,000  24,500  6,050  19,889  105,439  19 
Mr George Merhi   403,885  -  -  220,300  624,185  35 
Mr Anees Sabet2  36,000  72,600  3,960  -  112,560  - 

  494,885  97,100  10,010  240,189  842,184  29 

  
1 Mr Thomas is remunerated for services outside of normal board commitments on a daily rate.   
2 Mr Sabet is remunerated for services outside of normal board commitments on a daily rate.  
  

 

 

Short-term benefits 

Post-
employment 

benefits 

 
Share-based 

payments 

 

 

 

 
                  
  Cash salary  Other  Super-  Equity-    Performance  
  and fees    annuation  settled  Total  Related 
30 June 2023  $  $  $  $   $   % 
             
Directors:             
Mr Brian Thomas1   100,500  4,022  5,775  71,851  182,148  39 
Mr George Merhi  404,194  -  -  21,313  425,507  5 
Mr Anees Sabet2   60,456  6,303  3,780  -  70,539  - 

  565,150  10,325  9,555  93,164  678,194  14 

  
1 Mr Thomas is remunerated for services outside of normal board commitments on a daily rate.  
2 Mr Sabet is remunerated for services outside of normal board commitments on a daily rate. 
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Share-based compensation  
  
Options  
  
The following Options were granted to the technical director during the year ended 30 June 2024 and were valued using a 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following inputs:  
  
  Tranche 1 Options   Tranche 2 Options   Tranche 3 Options  
       
Name   George Merhi   George Merhi   George Merhi  
Grant Date   23-Nov-2023   23-Nov-2023   23-Nov-2023  
No. of Options   500,000   500,000   500,000  
Underlying share price   $0.30   $0.30   $0.30  
Exercise price   $0.40   $0.60   $0.80  
Expected volatility   97%   97%   97%  
Expiry date (years)   3  3  3 
Expected dividends   Nil   Nil   Nil  
Risk free rate   4.06%   4.06%   4.06%  
Value per option (rounded)   $0.170   $0.144   $0.126  
  
Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights.  
  
The options granted to key management personnel during the year vest immediately. The purpose of the issue of the Options 
is to align the interests of the option holders with those of Shareholders, and to motivate and reward the performance of the 
option holders.  
 

 
Employment Contracts with Key Management Personnel 
  
Peregrine has entered into an executive services agreement with Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd (Bann), a company 
associated with Technical Director, Mr George Merhi (Bann Agreement). Under the Bann Agreement, Mr Merhi is engaged 
by Peregrine to provide services to the Company as a Technical Director. Peregrine remunerates Bann for its services with a 
remuneration package comprising an amount of AUD$180 per hour plus GST or an amount of $1,800 per day plus GST when 
field work services are provided and reimbursement for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by Bann in the performance 
of its services. The Bann Agreement can be terminated by Peregrine or Bann by the giving of one month's written notice of 
termination (or shorter period in limited circumstances). 
  
All Directors have a letter of appointment confirming the terms and conditions of their appointment as Director of the Company. 
  
Other Transactions  
  
Peregrine has entered into an executive services agreement with Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd (Bann), a company 
associated with Technical Director, Mr George Merhi (Bann Agreement). Under the Bann Agreement, Peregrine incurs an 
amount of Nil per month plus GST in respect of Bann’s use of premises which it will provide and reimbursement for reasonable 
expenses necessarily incurred by Bann in the performance of its services including the contracting of exploration field team 
services. For the year ended 30 June 2024 Peregrine incurred fees to Bann of Nil (June 2023: $24,000) for use of premises.  
  
Bann also provided management and technical field services to the Company at cost plus a 20% mark up for superannuation 
and workers compensation. Total fees of $236,698 were paid or were payable to Bann for the financial year for technical field 
services (June 2023: $279,085).   
  
Loans from Key Management Personnel 
  
No loans were provided to or received from Key Management Personnel during the year ended 30 June 2024. 
  

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The Directors have excluded from this report any further information on the likely developments in the operations of the 
Company and the expected results of those operations in future financial years, as the Directors believe that it would be 
speculative and prejudicial to the interests of the Company. 
  
Shares under option 
As at the date of this report, there were 10,172,212 unissued ordinary shares under options. Details are as follows: 
  
      Exercise   Number  
Type  Expiry date  price  under option 
       
Listed Options  31 March 2026  $0.550   4,997,212 
Unlisted Options  30 November 2024  $1.000   50,000 
Unlisted Options  30 November 2024  $0.588   610,000 
Unlisted Options  31 December 2024  $0.750   1,815,000 
Unlisted Options  19 March 2025  $0.400   600,000 
Unlisted Options  31 December 2025  $0.850   600,000 
Unlisted Options  24 November 2026  $0.400   500,000 
Unlisted Options  24 November 2026  $0.600   500,000 
Unlisted Options  24 November 2026  $0.800   500,000 

       
      10,172,212 

  
No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the 
Company or of any other body corporate. 
Shares under share rights 
Unissued ordinary shares of Peregrine Gold Limited under share rights at the date of this report are as follows: 
  
    Exercise   Number  
Type  Expiry date  price  under rights 
       
Performance Shares (Class A)1  27 August 2026  $0.000  1,000,000 
Performance Shares (Class B)2  27 August 2026  $0.000  1,500,000 

       
      2,500,000 

  
1 Class A performance shares, vest and convert into fully paid ordinary shares upon the delineation of an independently 
assessed JORC Code inferred resource of at least 500,000 ounces of gold at a minimum resource grade of 1g/t Au (or 
equivalent, with a cut-off grade of 0.5g/t) at the Mallina Project by 27 August 2026; and 
 2 Class B performance shares, vest and convert into fully paid ordinary shares upon the delineation of an independently 
assessed JORC Code inferred resource of at least 1,000,000 ounces of gold at a minimum resource grade of 1g/t Au 
(or equivalent, with a cut-off grade of 0.5g/t) at the Mallina Project by 27 August 2026. 
  
No option holder or performance rights holder has any right to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any 
other entity.  
 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 
There were 11,193,870 ordinary shares of Peregrine Gold Limited issued on the exercise of listed and unlisted options, of 
which 781,666 were exercised by George Merhi and 1,035,000 were exercised by Anees Sabet, and 300,000 unlisted options 
during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this report. 
 

Shares issued on the exercise of share rights 
There were no ordinary shares of Peregrine Gold Limited issued on the exercise of performance shares during the year ended 
30 June 2024 and up to the date of this report. 
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Indemnity and insurance of directors and officers 
The Group has entered into Deeds of Indemnity with the Directors indemnifying them against certain liabilities and costs to 
the extent permitted by law.  
  
The Group has paid, or agreed to pay, premiums totalling $15,854 in respect of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance, 
which cover all Directors and officers of the Group against liabilities to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The 
policy conditions preclude the Group from any detailed disclosures.  
 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any proceedings to which 
the Group is a part for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all or any part of those proceedings. The 
Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 

Auditor's independence declaration and non-audit services 
Non-Audit Services 
The Group may decide to employ its auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Group is important.  
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for audit and non-audit services provided are outlined in note 21 to the 
financial statements. 
  
The lead auditor's independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2024 has been received and can be found on the 
following page of the Director’s Report.  
  
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 
2001. 
 

Auditor 
William Buck Audit (WA) continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the directors 
  
  
  
  
___________________________ 
Brian Thomas 
Non-Executive Chairman 
  
30 September 2024 
 



 

 

 

   

   

 

  

Corps Act_Clean_Auditors Independence Declaration 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of 
the Corporations Act 2001 

To the directors of Peregrine Gold Limited  

As lead auditor for the audit of Peregrine Gold Limited for the year ended 30 June 2024, I declare that, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

— no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

— no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Peregrine Gold Limited and the entities it controlled during the year.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

ABN 67 125 012 124 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conley Manifis 

Director 

Dated this 30th day of September 2024 
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Revenue       
Interest received     41,984   34,762  
       
Expenses       
Administration and consulting fees  3  (487,053)  (224,486) 
Employee and director benefits expense    (101,010)  (100,555) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense    (127,141)  (29,532) 
Exploration expenditure    (2,735,100)  (3,259,353) 
Other expenses    (150,045)  (122,033) 
Finance costs    (9,170)  (3,090) 
Share based payment  14  (240,189)  (305,759) 
Marketing    (860)  (8,604) 
Occupancy    (10,260)  (12,457) 
Travel expenditure    (104,205)  (115,035) 

       
Loss before income tax expense    (3,923,049)  (4,146,142) 
       
Income tax expense  6  -    -   

       
Loss after income tax expense for the year attributable to the owners of 
Peregrine Gold Limited 

 
12 

 
(3,923,049) 

 
(4,146,142) 

       
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax    -    -   

       
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year attributable to the owners of 
Peregrine Gold Limited 

 
 

 
(3,923,049) 

 
(4,146,142) 

       

    $  $ 
       
Basic earnings per share  13  (0.06)  (0.08) 
Diluted earnings per share  13  (0.06)  (0.08) 
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Assets       
       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents    1,911,475   3,492,172  
Trade and other receivables  4  113,512   119,514  

Total current assets    2,024,987   3,611,686  

       
Non-current assets       
Trade and other receivables  4  19,800   19,800  
Property, plant and equipment    -    12,812  
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities  9  149,028   253,522  
Exploration and evaluation assets  7  4,393,106   4,008,412  

Total non-current assets    4,561,934   4,294,546  

       
Total assets    6,586,921   7,906,232  

       
Liabilities       
       
Current liabilities       
Trade and other payables  8  444,881   350,139  
Lease liabilities   9  132,056   119,568  

Total current liabilities    576,937   469,707  

       
Non-current liabilities       
Lease liabilities  9  20,949   135,253  

Total non-current liabilities    20,949   135,253  

       
Total liabilities    597,886   604,960  

       
Net assets    5,989,035   7,301,272  

       
Equity       
Issued capital  10  16,338,384   13,806,389  
Reserves  11  2,083,647   2,004,830  
Accumulated losses  12  (12,432,996)  (8,509,947) 

       
Total equity    5,989,035   7,301,272  
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Total 
equity  

 

Contributed 
Equity 

 

Accumulated 
losses 

 Share-
based 

payments 
reserves 

 

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2022  10,941,247  (4,363,805)  1,602,632  8,180,074 
         
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  (4,146,142)  -  (4,146,142) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  - 

         
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year  -  (4,146,142)  -  (4,146,142) 
         
Transactions with owners:         
Issue of shares – Entitlement issue   3,037,918  -  -  3,037,918 
Issue of shares – Exercise of listed options  139,605  -  -  139,605 
Issue of shares – Exercise of unlisted options   161,562  -  (161,562)  - 
Share issue costs  (473,943)  -  258,001  (215,942) 
Share based payment expense   -  -  305,759  305,759 
         
Balance at 30 June 2023  13,806,389  (8,509,947)  2,004,830  7,301,272 

  
        

Total 
equity  

 

Contributed 
Equity 

 

Accumulated 
losses 

 Share-
based 

payments 
reserves 

 

Consolidated  $  $  $  $ 
         
Balance at 1 July 2023  13,806,389  (8,509,947)  2,004,830  7,301,272 
         
Loss after income tax expense for the year  -  (3,923,049)  -  (3,923,049) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  -  -  -  - 

         
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the year  -  (3,923,049)  -  (3,923,049) 
         
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:         
Share-based payments (note 14)  -  -  240,189  240,189 
Issue of shares – Exercise of listed options   1,824,997  -  -  1,824,997 
Issue of shares – Shortfall underwriting of listed options   353,777  -  -  353,777 
Issue of shares – Exercise of unlisted option   75,000  -  -  75,000 
Issue of shares – tenement acquisition  175,000  -  -  175,000 
Share issue costs  (58,151)  -  -  (58,151) 
Cashless exercise of options  161,372  -  (161,372)  - 

         
Balance at 30 June 2024  16,338,384  (12,432,996)  2,083,647  5,989,035 
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Cash flows from operating activities       
Interest received    41,677   34,762  
Payments to suppliers and employees    (507,656)  (510,157) 
Payment for exploration and evaluation expenditure     (3,164,057)  (3,267,525) 
       
Net cash used in operating activities  26  (3,630,036)  (3,742,920) 

       
Cash flows from investing activities       
Payments for tenements    (100,000)  -   
Payments for property, plant and equipment    -    (10,884) 
Other (stamp duty)    (47,766)  -   
       
Net cash used in investing activities    (147,766)  (10,884) 

       
Cash flows from financing activities       
Proceeds from issue of shares  10  -    3,037,918  
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of options    2,197,105   139,605  
Proceeds from the issue of Options     -    100  
Share issue costs     -    (215,942) 
Lease payments     -    (28,169) 
Property bond     -    (19,800) 

       
Net cash from financing activities    2,197,105   2,913,712  

       
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (1,580,697)  (840,092) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year    3,492,172   4,332,264  

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year    1,911,475   3,492,172  
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Note 1. Material accounting policy information 
  
The accounting policies that are material to the Group are set out below. The accounting policies adopted are consistent with 
those of the previous financial year, unless otherwise stated. 
  
The material accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial report of Peregrine Gold Limited (“Peregrine” or “Group”) 
for the year ended 30 June 2024 are stated to assist in a general understanding of the financial report. Peregrine is a Company 
limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The financial report of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024 
was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 2024. 
  
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
  
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. Cost is based on the fair values of the 
consideration given in exchange for assets. 
  
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 
  
The Company is a listed public Company. 
  
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early adopted. 
  
Going concern 
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business activities 
and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
  
For the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of $3,923,049, had operating cash outflows of $3,630,036.  As 
at 30 June 2024, further additional funding was needed to complete planned activities. These conditions indicate a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be 
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.   
  
The Directors determined that the use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate in preparing the financial report. 
The assessment of the going concern assumption is based on the group’s cash flow projections 12 months from the date the 
annual report is signed. Included in the Directors going concern cash flow assessment is that further funds can be secured by 
a capital raising or reducing expenditure. Accordingly, the Financial Report has been prepared on the basis that the Group 
can continue normal business activities and meet its commitments as and when they fall due, and the realisation of assets 
and liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
  
Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. Supplementary 
information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 19. 
  
Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Peregrine Gold Limited 
('Company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2024 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Peregrine Gold 
Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the 'Group'. 
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Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
  
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group. 
  
Operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same basis 
as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for the allocation 
of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.  
  
Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that control of the goods or service has passed and it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also 
be met before revenue is recognised: 
  
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
●  when the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

●  when the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the 
timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

  
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except when the deferred 
income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; or when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 
or interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised. 
  
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 
  
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance date. Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss. 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority. 
  
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the Group's 
normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the 
reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for 
at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group's normal operating cycle; it is held 
primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as 
non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 
days. 
  
The Group has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on days overdue. 
  
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 
periods ranging from 15 days to 30 days. The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an 
amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss. The expected credit losses on trade and other receivables are estimated with 
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial position, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtor, general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment 
of both the current and the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date. 
 
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery; for example, when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into 
bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade receivables are over two years past due, whichever occurs earlier. The amount of 
the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within other expenses. 
When a trade receivable for which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent 
period, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 
against other expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
  
Right-of-use assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the 
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and 
restoring the site or asset. 
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life 
of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the 
lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
  
The Group has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term leases with terms 
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss as 
incurred. 
  
Deferred exploration and evaluation assets 
Acquired exploration and evaluation assets are carried at acquisition value less any subsequent impairment for each 
identifiable area of interest. All ongoing exploration and evaluation expenditure, subsequent to initial acquisition, is expensed 
and recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss. These costs are only carried forward to the extent that the Group’s rights  
of tenure to that area of interest are current and that the costs are expected to be recouped through the successful commercial 
development or sale of the area or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable 
assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves. 
 
Costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the period in which the decision to abandon the 
area is made. 
 
Each area of interest is also reviewed bi -annually, and acquisition costs written off to the extent that they will not be 
recoverable in the future.  
 
Impairment of assets 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined 
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets 
or groups of assets and the asset's value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is 
tested for impairment as part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. 
  
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses 
relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset 
unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 
  
An assessment is also made at each balance date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is 
recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 
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Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar financial assets) is derecognised 
when: 
  
●  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
●  the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without 

material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; or 
●  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either: 

 
(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has transferred control of 
the asset. 

  
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of 
the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration received that the Group could be required to repay. 
  
When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset 
that the Group may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the 
fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price. 
  
Trade and other payables 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services provided to 
the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Company becomes obliged to make future 
payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
  
Other taxes 
  
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
●  when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case 

the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 
●  receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
  
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables 
in the Statement of Financial Position. 
  
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority, are classified as operating 
cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
  
Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
  
Leases 
Where the Company is the lessee, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date which 
the lease asset is available for use by the Group (i.e. commencement date). Each lease payment is allocated between the 
liability and the finance cost. 
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The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at commencement date, 
discounted using the rate implied in the lease. If this rate is not readily determinable, the Group uses its incremental borrowing 
rate. 
  
Lease payments included in the initial measurement if the lease liability consist of: 
  
●  Fixed lease payments less any lease incentives receivable; 
●  Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at commencement 

date; 
●  Any amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; 
●  The exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
●  Termination penalties of the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease. 
  
Extension options are included in a number of property leases across the Group. In determining the lease term, management 
considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option. Extension options 
are only included in the lease term if, at commencement date, it is reasonably certain that the options will be exercised. 
  
Subsequent to initial recognition, the lease liability is measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made. 
The lease liability is remeasured (with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset) whenever there is a change in 
the lease term (including assessments relating to extension and termination options), lease payments due to changes in an 
index or rate, or expected payments under guaranteed residual values. 
  
The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a consistent period rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
  
Right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before 
commencement date, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. These right-of-use assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
  
Where the terms of lease require the Group to restore the underlying asset, or the Group has an obligation to dismantle and 
remove a leased asset, the provision is recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 137 (Provision, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets). To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the 
related right-of-use asset. 
  
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease (or the useful life of the leased asset if 
this is shorter). Depreciation starts on commencement date of the lease. 
  
Where leases have a term of less than 12 months or relate to low value assets, the Group has applied the optional exemptions 
to not capitalise these leases and instead account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
  
Employee benefits 
  
Share-based payments 
The Group provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Group in the form of share-based payments, 
whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled transactions). The cost of 
these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted. In valuing equity-settled transactions, account is taken of any performance conditions, and 
conditions linked to the price of the shares of Peregrine Gold Limited  (market conditions) if applicable. 
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The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired, and (ii) the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these 
conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income charge or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end 
of that period. 
  
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only conditional upon a 
market condition. 
  
If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date of modification. 
  
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
  
If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the condition is treated as a 
cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, 
any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 
  
If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and 
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a 
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 
  
Cash settled transactions: 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black Scholes model for unlisted 
options and the market traded price for listed options and performance rights that are bought to account, having regard to the 
terms and conditions upon which the instruments are granted. This fair value is expensed over the period until vesting with 
recognition of a corresponding liability. The liability is re-measured to fair value at each balance date up to and including the 
settlement date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure purposes, the fair 
value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; 
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement is based on its highest and best 
use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair 
value, are used, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
  
Issued capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
  
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
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Parent entity financial information 
  
The financial information for the parent entity, Peregrine Gold Limited, disclosed in note 19 has been prepared on the same 
basis as the consolidated financial statements, other than investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost. 
  
Earnings per share 
  
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Peregrine Gold Limited, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
  
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings/loss per share is calculated as net profit or loss attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: costs of 
servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends; the after tax effect of dividends and interest associated 
with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised as expenses; and other non-discretionary changes in 
revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary shares; divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. 
 

Note 2. Operating segments 
  
AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are 
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its 
performance. 
  
The Group operates in one segment, being exploration for mineral resources and in one geographical location being Australia. 
This is the basis on which internal reports are provided to the Directors for assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources within the Group.  
 

Note 3. Other expenses 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Administration expenses  114,392   124,767  
Consulting fees  372,661   99,719  

     
Other expenses  487,053   224,486  

 

Note 4. Trade and other receivables  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Current assets     
Trade receivables  1,900   1,963  

     
Prepayments  -    16,481  
GST receivable  111,612   101,070  

  111,612   117,551  

     
  113,512   119,514  

Non-current assets     
Other receivables  19,800   19,800  

     
  133,312   139,314  
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Note 5. Deferred tax 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Non-current assets     
Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:     
     
Amounts recognised in profit or loss:     

Accrued expenditure   -    43,547  
Capital allowances  -    32,455  
Tax losses available to offset against future taxable income  3,399,909   2,202,821  
Deferred tax assets not brought to account  (3,399,909)  (2,278,823) 

     
Deferred tax asset  -    -   

  
The benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if: 
  
●  future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; 
●  the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and  
●  no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit. 
 

Note 6. Income tax expense 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the statutory rate     
Loss before income tax expense  (3,923,049)  (4,146,142) 

     
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%  (1,176,915)  (1,243,843) 
     
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:     

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes  55,829   91,728  

     
  (1,121,086)  (1,152,115) 
Adjustment recognised for prior periods  (2,278,823)  (1,126,708) 
Deferred tax assets not brought to account   3,399,909   2,278,823  

     
Income tax expense  -    -   

  
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian corporate entities on 
taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in this tax rate since the previous reporting period. 
  
These losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, the same business 
test is passed. 
  
The recovery of the carried forward tax losses is subject to the applicable Group companies continuing to satisfy the continuity 
of ownership test or the similar business test or other tax legislation requirements or limitations. 
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Note 7. Exploration and evaluation assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Non-current assets     
Newman Gold Project (Pilbara region - Western Australia)  2,284,686   1,899,992  
     
Stoney Creek (Pilbara region – Western Australia)   57,791   57,791  

     
Mallina Gold Project and other New Frontier Resources Prospects (Pilbara region – Western 
Australia) 

 
2,050,629  

 
2,050,629  

     
Total exploration and evaluation assets   4,393,106   4,008,412  

  
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
  

 

  Exploration 
and 

evaluation 
Consolidated  $ 
   
Balance at  1 July 2023   4,008,412 

   
Balance at  1 July 2023   4,008,412 
Addition – FMGP Tenements  100,000 
Addition – FMGP Tenements (stamp duty)  47,766 
Addition – DCX Tenements  175,000 
Addition – DCX Tenements (stamp duty)  61,928 

   
Balance at 30 June 2024  4,393,106 

 

Note 8. Trade and other payables 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Current liabilities     
Trade payables  338,260   206,498  
Accrued expenses   103,828   143,351  
Employee liabilities   2,793   290  
     
  444,881   350,139  
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Note 9. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
  
Right of use assets 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Non-current assets     
Land and buildings - right-of-use  291,526   281,691  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (142,498)  (28,169) 

     
  149,028   253,522  

  
Lease liabilities  
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Current liabilities     
 Lease liabilities   132,056   119,568  

     
Non-current liabilities     
 Lease liabilities   20,949   135,253  

     
  153,005   254,821  
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Note 10. Issued capital 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  Shares  Shares  $  $ 
         
Ordinary shares - fully paid (net of transaction costs)  67,878,421  56,102,611  16,338,384   13,806,389  

  
Movements in ordinary share capital 
  
Details  Date  Shares  Issue price   $ 
         
Balance  1 July 2022  46,986,669    10,941,247 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  21-Jul-22  316  $0.200   63 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  15-Aug-22  175,484  $0.200   35,097 
Issue of Shares – exercise of unlisted incentive 
options(1) 

 
23-Aug-22  

 
259,087 

 
$0.000 

 
121,228 

Issue of Shares – exercise of unlisted incentive 
options(1) 

 
23-Aug-22  

 
145,770 

 
$0.000 

 
22,800 

Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  8-Nov-22  30,333  $0.200   6,067 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  3-Feb-23  11,000  $0.200   2,200 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  27-Feb-23   11,000  $0.200   2,200 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  14-Mar-23   290,939  $0.200   58,188 
Issue of Shares – exercise of unlisted incentive 
options(1) 

 
15-Mar-23  

 
18,540 

 
$0.000 

 
17,534 

Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  16-Mar-23   116,152  $0.200   23,230 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  23-Mar-23   25,312  $0.200   5,062 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  29-Mar-23  16,666  $0.200   3,333 
Issue of Shares- Entitlement Issue  21-Apr-23   7,994,522  $0.380   3,037,918 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  24-Apr-23  20,821  $0.200   4,164 
Transaction costs    -  $0.000  (473,942) 
         
Balance  30 June 2023  56,102,611    13,806,389 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  15-Sep-23  75,000  $0.200   15,000 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  26-Oct-23  100,000  $0.200   20,000 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  06-Nov-23  625  $0.200   125 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  10-Nov-23  178,363  $0.200   35,673 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  16-Nov-23  130,000  $0.200   26,000 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  24-Nov-23  148,808  $0.200   29,762 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  30-Nov-23  1,767,546  $0.200   353,509 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  07-Dec-23  523,446  $0.200   104,689 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  14-Dec-23  480,460  $0.200   96,092 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  21-Dec-23  3,059,166  $0.200   611,833 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  27-Dec-23  2,143,267  $0.200   428,653 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  28-Dec-23  518,302  $0.200   103,660 
Issue of Shares – exercise of listed options  03-Jan-24  1,768,887  $0.200   353,778 
Issue of Shares- DCX Newman acquisition  21-Feb-24  581,940  $0.300   175,000 
Issue of Shares – exercise of unlisted incentive 
options 

 
19-Mar-24 

 
300,000 

 
$0.250  

 
75,000 

Cashless exercise of options  30-Jun-24  -  $0.000  161,372 
Transaction costs    -  $0.000  (58,151) 

         
Balance  30 June 2024  67,878,421    16,338,384 

  
(1) During the prior year, Peregrine issued Shares on the conversion of unlisted incentive options using the Company’s 
“cashless exercise facility”. 
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Rights Attaching to Ordinary Shares 
  
The rights attaching to fully paid ordinary shares (“Ordinary Shares”) arise from a combination of the Company's Constitution, 
statute and general law. The clauses of the Constitution contain the internal rules of the Company and define matters such as 
the rights, duties and powers of its shareholders and directors, including provisions to the following effect (when read in 
conjunction with the Corporations Act 2001 or Listing Rules).  
  
(i) Shares  
The issue of shares in the capital of the Company and options over unissued shares by the Company is under the control of 
the directors, subject to the Corporations Act 2001 and any rights attached to any special class of shares.  
  
(ii) Meetings of Members  
Directors may call a meeting of members whenever they think fit. Members may call a meeting as provided by the Corporations 
Act 2001. The Constitution contains provisions prescribing the content requirements of notices of meetings of members and 
all members are entitled to a notice of meeting. A meeting may be held in two or more places linked together by audio-visual 
communication devices. A quorum for a meeting of members is 2 shareholders. 
  
(iii) Voting  
Subject to any rights or restrictions at the time being attached to any shares or class of shares of the Company, each member 
of the Company is entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at a general meeting. Resolutions of members will be decided 
by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. On a show of hands each eligible voter present has one vote. However, where 
a person present at a general meeting represents personally or by proxy, attorney or representative more than one member, 
on a show of hands the person is entitled to one vote only despite the number of members the person represents. On a poll 
each eligible member has one vote for each fully paid share held and a fraction of a vote for each partly paid share determined 
by the amount paid up on that share. 
  
(iv) Changes to the Constitution  
The Company's Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution passed by at least three quarters of the members 
present and voting at a general meeting of the Company. At least 28 days' written notice specifying the intention to propose 
the resolution as a special resolution must be given.  
 

Note 11. Reserves 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Share-based payments reserve  2,083,647   2,004,830  

  
Share-based payments reserve 
This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to directors and employees as part of their fees and 
remuneration, and external service providers for goods and services provided (including acquisition of tenements). 
  
Movements in the share-based payments/other equity reserve were as follows:  
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    Number of   
    Unlisted   
Date  Details  Options  $ 
       
1-Jul-23  Opening balance  8,625,000  2,004,830 
07-Nov-23  Transfer of unlisted option to listed options  (1,000,000)  - 
24-Nov-23   Issue of unlisted options  1,500,000  - 
19-Mar-24  Exercise of unlisted $0.25 options  (300,000)  - 
19-Mar-24  Expiry of unlisted $0.25 options   (200,000)  - 
03-May-24  Expiry of unlisted $0.35 options  (300,000)  - 
30-Jun-24   Share-based payment expense   -  240,189 
01-Jul-23   Cashless exercise of options  -  (161,372) 
30 Jun 2024  Closing balance  8,325,000  2,083,647 
  
Terms and Conditions of Unlisted Options  
  
The Unlisted Options are granted based upon the following terms and conditions:  
 
• Each Unlisted Option entitles the holder to the right to subscribe for one Ordinary Share upon the exercise of each Unlisted 
Option;  
 
• The Unlisted Options outstanding at the end of the financial year have the following exercise prices and expiry dates: 
  
●  900,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.30 each on or before 19 September 2024 (vested 19 Sep 22); 
●  600,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.40 each on or before 19 April 2025 (vested 19 Mar 23); 
●  1,000,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.45 each on or before 27 August 2024 (vesting immediately); 
●  250,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.55 each on or before 16 September 2024 (vesting immediately); 
●  200,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.85 each on or before 31 December 2025 (vesting immediately); 
●  200,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.85 each on or before 31 December 2025 (vested 11 Feb 23); 
●  200,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.85 each on or before 31 December 2025 (vesting 11 Feb 24); 
●  1,815,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.75 each on or before 31 December 2024 (vesting immediately); 
●  610,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.588 each on or before 30 November 2025 (vesting immediately); 
●  50,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $1.00 each on or before 30 November 2024 (vesting immediately);  
●  500,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.40 each on or before 24 November 2026 (vesting immediately); 
●  500,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.60 each on or before 24 November 2026 (vesting immediately); and 
●  500,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.80 each on or before 24 November 2026 (vesting immediately). 
  
• The Unlisted Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date, subject to vesting conditions being satisfied (i f 
applicable);  
• Ordinary Shares issued on exercise of the Unlisted Options rank equally with the then Ordinary Shares of the Company;  
• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Ordinary Shares issued upon the exercise of 
the Unlisted Options;  
• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Unlisted Option holders may be 
varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the reconstruction at the time of the reconstruction; and  
• No application for quotation of the Unlisted Incentive Options will be made by the Company.  
 

Note 12. Accumulated losses 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Accumulated losses at the beginning of the financial year  (8,509,947)  (4,363,805) 
Loss after income tax expense for the year  (3,923,049)  (4,146,142) 

     
Accumulated losses at the end of the financial year  (12,432,996)  (8,509,947) 
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Note 13. (Loss)/Earnings per share 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Earnings per share for loss from continuing operations     
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Peregrine Gold Limited  (3,923,049)  (4,146,142) 

  
  Number  Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share  62,227,449  49,186,261 

     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share  62,227,449  49,186,261 

  
  $  $ 
     
Basic earnings per share  (0.06)  (0.08) 
Diluted earnings per share  (0.06)  (0.08) 
  
Non-Dilutive Securities  
As at reporting date, 4,997,212 Listed Options, 5,175,000 Unlisted Options and 2,500,000 Unlisted Performance Rights (which 
represent 12,672,212 potential Ordinary Shares) were considered non-dilutive as they would decrease the loss per share. 
  
Conversions, Calls, Subscriptions or Issues after 30 June 2024 
Other than stated above, there were no other conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for Ordinary Shares or issues of potential 
Ordinary Shares since the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report.  
 

Note 14. Share-based payments 
  
Recognised Share-based Payment Expense  
  
From time to time, the Group provides incentive options to officers, employees, consultants and other key advisors as part of 
remuneration and incentive arrangements. The number of options granted, and the terms of the options granted are 
determined by the Board. Shareholder approval is sought where required. 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions  240,189   305,759  

  
Summary of Unlisted Options Granted as Share-based Payments  
  
The following Options were granted as share based payments during the year ended 30 June 2024 and were valued using a 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following inputs: 
  
  Tranche 1 Options  Tranche 2 Options  Tranche 3 Options 
       
Grant Date  23-Nov-2023  23-Nov-2023  23-Nov-2023 
No of Options  500,000  500,000  500,000 
Underlying share price  $0.30  $0.30  $0.30 
Exercise price  $0.40  $0.60  $0.80 
Expected volatility  97%  97%  97% 
Expiry date (years)  3  3  3 
Expected dividends  Nil  Nil  Nil 
Risk free rate  4.06%  4.06%  4.06% 
Value per option (rounded)  $0.170  $0.144  $0.126 
  



Peregrine Gold Limited 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2024 
 

  
Note 14. Share-based payments (continued) 
 

  

  
41 

The options granted to key management personnel during the year vest immediately.  
 
The options are exercisable at any time on or prior to the Expiry Date. 
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The following Options were granted as share based payments during the year ended 30 June 2023 and were valued using a 
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following inputs: 
  
  Options  Options 
     
Grant Date  30-Nov-2022  30-Nov-2022 
No of Options  610,000  50,000 
Underlying share price  $0.40  $0.47 
Exercise price  $0.558  $1.00 
Expected volatility  120%  120% 
Expiry date (years)  3  2 
Expected dividends  Nil  Nil 
Risk free rate  2.863%  3.600% 
  
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of Unlisted Options granted as share-
based payments at the beginning and end of the financial year: 
  
  2024  2023  2024  2023 
  Number  Number  WAEP  WAEP 
         
Outstanding at beginning of year  5,810,000  6,100,000  $0.42   $0.41  
Issued during the year  1,500,000  660,000  $0.60   $0.62  
Converted during the year  (300,000)  (950,000)  $0.25   $0.47  
Expired during the year  (500,000)  -  $0.31   $0.00 
Converted to listed options on expiry of restriction  (1,000,000)  -  -  $0.20 
Outstanding at end of year  5,510,000  5,810,000  $0.40   $0.42  
  
Weighted average remaining contractual life 
At 30 June 2024, the weighted average remaining contractual life of Unlisted Options on issue that had been granted as share-
based payments was 1.13 years.  
 
Number of unlisted options vested and exercisable 
At 30 June 2024, the number of vested and exercisable Unlisted Options on issue that had been granted as share-based 
payments was 5,510,000.  
 
No performance shares were issued during the financial year or the previous financial year. 
 

Note 15. Related party transactions 
  
Parent entity 
Peregrine Gold Limited is the parent entity. 
  
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 25. 
  
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 16 and the remuneration report included in the directors' 
report. 
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Transactions with related parties 
Peregrine has entered into an executive services agreement with Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd (Bann), a company 
associated with Technical Director, Mr George Merhi (Bann Agreement). Under the Bann Agreement, Mr Merhi is engaged 
by Peregrine to provide services to the Company as a Technical Director. Peregrine remunerates Bann for its services with a 
remuneration package comprising an amount of AUD$180 per hour plus GST or an amount of $1,800 per day plus GST when 
field work services are provided and reimbursement for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by Bann in the performance 
of its services. The Bann Agreement can be terminated by Peregrine or Bann by the giving of one month's written notice of 
termination (or shorter period in limited circumstances). 
 
Previously under the Bann Agreement, Peregrine incurred an amount in respect of Bann’s use of premises which it will provide. 
For the year ended 30 June 2024 Peregrine incurred fees to Bann of nil (June 2023: $24,000) for use of premises. Additionally 
the Company will reimburse for reasonable expenses necessarily incurred by Bann in the performance of its services including 
the contracting of exploration field team services. 
  
Bann also provided management and technical field services to the Company at cost plus a 20% mark up for 
superannuation and workers compensation. Total fees of $236,698 were paid or were payable to Bann for the financial year 
for technical field services (June 2023: $279,085). 
 
There were no other transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 
 

Note 16. Key management personnel disclosures 
  
Directors 
The following persons were directors of Peregrine Gold Limited during the financial year: 
  
Mr Brian Thomas  Non-Executive Chairman  
Mr George Merhi  Technical Director 
Mr Anees Sabet  Non-Executive Director 
  
Unless otherwise disclosed, KMP held their position from 1 July 2023 until 30 June 2024.  
  
Compensation 
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out 
below: 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024   30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Short-term employee benefits  591,985   575,475  
Post-employment benefits  10,010   9,555  
Share-based payments  240,189   93,164  

     
  842,184   678,194  

 

Note 17. Financial risk management objectives and policies 
  
Overview  
  
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and 
other payables. The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. 
  
This note presents information about the Group's exposure to the above risks, its objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Other than as disclosed, there have been no significant 
changes since the previous financial year to the exposure or management of these risks.  
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The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group's financial risk management policy. Key 
risks are monitored and reviewed as circumstances change (e.g. acquisition of a new project) and policies are revised as 
required. The overall objective of the Group's financial risk management policy is to support the delivery of the Group's financial 
targets whilst protecting future financial security. 
  
Given the nature and size of the business and uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and outflows, the Group 
does not enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the financial risks. In addition, the Group's policy is that no trading in 
financial instruments shall be undertaken for the purposes of making speculative gains. As the Group's operations change, 
the Directors will review this policy periodically going forward.  
  
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The 
Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group's financial risks as summarised below. 
  
Liquidity Risk 
  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Board's approach 
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when due. 
  
The contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments, are provided below. There are no 
netting arrangements in respect of financial liabilities.  
  
     6-12       

 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 

 

≤6 Months 

 

Months 

 

1-5 Years 

 

≥5 Years 

 

Total 
 %  A$  A$  A$  A$  A$ 
            
2024            
Financial Liabilities            
Trade and other payables    444,881  -  -  -  444,881 
Lease liabilities 4.43  132,056  20,949  -  -  153,005 

   576,937  20,949  -  -  597,886 
 
     6-12       

 

Weighted 
average 
interest 
rate 

 

≤6 Months 

 

Months 

 

1-5 Years 

 

≥5 Years 

 

Total 
 %  A$  A$  A$  A$  A$ 
            
2023            
Financial Liabilities             
Trade and other payables   350,139  -  -  -  350,139 
Lease liabilities 4.43  119,568  135,253  -  -  254,821 

   469,707  135,253  -  -  604,960 
  
Commodity Price Risk 
  
The Group is exposed to commodity price risk. These commodity prices can be volatile and are influenced by factors beyond 
the Group's control. As the Group is currently engaged in exploration and business development activities, no sales of 
commodities are forecast for the next 12 months, and accordingly, no hedging or derivative transactions have been used to 
manage commodity price risk. 
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Capital Management  
  
The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern while financing the development 
of its projects through primarily equity based financing. The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain 
investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Given the stage of the Group, the 
Board's objective is to minimise debt and to raise funds as required through the issue of new shares.  
 
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
 
There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year. During the next 12 months, the 
Group will continue to explore financing opportunities, primarily consisting of additional issues of equity should it be required.  
  
Fair Value 
  
The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value as at 30 June 2024  
  
Interest Rate Risk  
  
The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term deposits with 
a floating interest rate. 
  
These financial assets with variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. All other financial assets and 
liabilities, in the form of receivables and payables are non-interest bearing. 
  
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial instruments was:  
  
The Group’s cash at bank and on hand had a weighted average floating interest rate at year end of 1.7%. The Group currently 
does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.  
  
Interest rate sensitivity 
  
A sensitivity of 75 basis points has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of both short term 
and long term interest rates. A 75 basis point movement in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 
(decreased) equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, remain 
constant. 
  
  Consolidated 
   30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Interest-bearing financial instruments      
Cash and cash equivalents   1,911,476   3,492,172  

  
  Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

Consolidated - 30 June 2024 

 
Basis points 

change 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax 

 
Effect on 

equity 

 
Basis points 

change 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax 

 
Effect on 

equity 
             
Net interest rate risk exposure  75  14,336  14,336  (75)  (14,336)  (14,336) 

  
  Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

Consolidated - 30 June 2023 

 
Basis points 

change 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax 

 
Effect on 

equity 

 
Basis points 

change 

 Effect on 
profit before 

tax 

 
Effect on 

equity 
             
Net interest rate risk exposure   75  26,191  26,191  (75)  (26,191)  (26,191) 

  



Peregrine Gold Limited 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
30 June 2024 
 

  
Note 17. Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued) 
 

  

  
46 

The movements in post-tax profit are due to the movements in interest amounts from lower cash balances held that balance 
date in comparison to the prior period. 
  
Credit Risk 
  
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables.  
  
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The carrying amount of the Group's financial assets 
represents the maximum credit risk exposure, as represented below:  
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024   30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Cash and cash equivalents  1,911,476   3,492,172  
Other receivables  19,800   18,444  

     
  1,931,276   3,510,616  

  
The Group does not have any customers and accordingly does not have any significant exposure to credit losses. Other 
receivables comprise primarily interest receivable. At 30 June 2024, none of the Company's receivables are past due. No 
impairment losses on receivables have been recognised. With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, 
the Group's exposure to credit risk arises from historical default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amount of these instruments.  
 

Note 18. Interest in joint operation 
  
The Group has no interests in joint operations.  
 

Note 19. Parent entity information 
  
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
  
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
  
  Parent 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax  (3,688,552)  (3,127,732) 
     
Total comprehensive (loss)/profit  (3,688,552)  (3,127,732) 
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Statement of financial position 
  
  Parent 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Total current assets  1,927,314   3,520,220  

     
Total assets  5,997,777   7,707,990  

     
Total current liabilities  (35,216)  597,257  

     
Total liabilities  (35,216)  597,257  
     
Equity     

Issued capital  16,338,384   13,806,389  
Reserves  2,083,647   2,004,830  
Accumulated losses  (12,389,038)  (8,700,486) 

     
Total equity  6,032,993   7,110,733  

  
Contingent liabilities 
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2024. 
  
Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2024. 
  
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries  
There are no guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 
  
Material accounting policy  
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1, except 
for the following:  
●  Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity.  
 

Note 20. Commitments 
  
Exploration Commitments 
As a condition of retaining the current rights to tenure to exploration tenements, the Group is required to pay an annual rental 
charge and meet minimum expenditure requirements for each tenement. These obligations are not provided for in the financial 
statements and are at the sole discretion of the Group:  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Commitments for exploration expenditure:      
Within one year  1,616,708   1,124,398  
One to five years  1,592,900   2,283,377  

     
  3,209,608   3,407,775  
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Note 21. Remuneration of auditors 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Auditors of the Group - William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd     
Audit and review of financial statements  26,850  24,500 
     
Total services provided by William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd  26,850  24,500 

 

Note 22. Contingent assets 
  
There are no material contingent assets relating to the Group. 
 

Note 23. Contingent liabilities 
  
There are no material contingent liabilities relating to the Group. 
 

Note 24. Events after the reporting period 
  
No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2024 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the Group's 
operations, the results of those operations, or the Group's state of affairs in future financial years. 
 

Note 25. Interests in subsidiaries 
  
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in note 1 to the financial statements: 
  

 
 
 

 Ownership 
interest 

 Ownership 
interest 

  Principal place of business /  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
Name  Country of incorporation  %  % 
       
Pilbara Gold Exploration Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
PGD (SC) Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
New Frontier Resources Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
East Pilbara Supreme Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
Retention Resources Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
LMTD Comet East Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
LMTD Pilbara Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
LMTD Wits Pty Ltd  Australia  100%   100%  
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Note 26. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating activities 
  
  Consolidated 
  30 June 2024  30 June 2023 
  $  $ 
     
Loss after income tax expense for the year  (3,923,049)  (4,146,142) 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation  127,141   29,532  
Share-based payments  240,189   305,759  
Other items  -    1,198  
     
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     

Increase in trade and other receivables  -    (54,764) 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  (74,317)  121,497  

     
Net cash used in operating activities  (3,630,036)  (3,742,920) 
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Place formed / 

 
Ownership 

interest 

 

 

 In a Trust, 
Partnership 

or 

 
Foreign 

Jurisdictions 

Entity name 
 

Entity type 
 Country of 

incorporation 
 

% 
 Tax 

residency 
 Participant 

in JV 
 of Foreign 

Residence 
             
Peregrine Gold Limited  Body corporate  Australia  N/A  Australia  N/A  N/A 
Pilbara Gold Exploration Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
PGD (SC) Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
New Frontier Resources Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
East Pilbara Supreme Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
Retention Resources Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
LMTD Comet East Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
LMTD Pilbara Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
LMTD Wits Pty Ltd  Body corporate  Australia  100%  Australia  N/A  N/A 
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In the directors' opinion: 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, the 

Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1 to the financial statements; 
  
●  the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2024 

and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; 
  
●  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable; and 
  
●  the information disclosed in the attached consolidated entity disclosure statement is true and correct. 
  
The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
  
On behalf of the directors 
  
  
  
  
___________________________ 
Brian Thomas 
Non-Executive Chairman 
  
30 September 2024 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Peregrine Gold 
Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial report 

  Our opinion on the financial report 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Peregrine Gold Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (the Group) is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:  

— giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2024 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and  

— complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  

What was audited? 

We have audited the financial report of the Group, which comprises:  

— the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024,  

— the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended,  

— the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, 

— the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,   

— notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information,  

— the consolidated entity disclosure statement, and  

— the directors’ declaration. 

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of 
the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 

 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of 
$3,923,049 and net cash outflows from operations of $3,630,036 during the year ended 30 June 2024. As 
stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern 
section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in 
our report. 
 

CARRYING VALUE OF EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS    

Area of focus  

Refer also to note 7 
How our audit addressed it 

TheThe Group has capitalised the acquisition costs of 

tenements comprising the Newman Gold Project, 

Stoney Creek, the Mallina Gold Project and other 

New Frontier Resources Prospects located in the 

Pilbara region. The carrying value of these 

exploration and evaluation assets represent a 

significant asset to the Group.  

This is a key audit matter due to the fact that 

significant judgement is applied in determining 

whether the exploration and evaluation assets 

continue to meet the recognition criteria of AASB 6 

Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 

Resources. 

 

 

 
 

    Our audit procedures included:   
 

- Obtaining evidence that the Group has 

valid rights to explore the areas 

represented by the capitalised exploration 

and evaluation assets;  

- Enquiring of management and reviewing 

the cashflow forecast to verify that 

substantive expenditure on further 

exploration for and evaluation of the 

mineral resources in the Group’s areas of 

interest is planned; 

 
- Enquiring with management, reviewing 

ASX announcements made and minutes of 
directors’ meetings to verify that the Group 
had not decided to discontinue activities in 
any of its areas of interest; and  

 
- Reviewing management’s impairment 

assessment on the carrying value of 
exploration and evaluation assets as at 30 
June 2024. 

 

 
    We also assessed the adequacy of the Group’s 

disclosures in the financial report.  
 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

VALUATION OF OPTIONS 

Area of focus  

Refer also to note 14  
How our audit addressed it 

The Group has reported $240,186 of expenses for 
the year in respect of share-based payments.  
 
Significant judgement and estimation by 
management is required in determining the share- 
based payment expense in the period for options 
granted, and is therefore, considered to be a key 
audit matter. 
 
 

 
Amount 

$ 
 
 

    Our audit procedures included:   
 

- Assessing management’s and consultant’s 
calculation for fair value, including the 
appropriateness of the valuation models 
used, inputs applied and ensured that the 
conditions of the options agree to the 
specified ASX announcements and signed 
agreements; and  

- Assessing whether management’s 
reporting and disclosure of share-based 
payments was in accordance with AASB 2 
Share Based Payment. 

 

 

 

Other information  

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon. 
  
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

— the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and 

— the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

— the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 

view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

— the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error.  

 



 

 

 

 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: 
 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf 

 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

  Our opinion on the Remuneration Report 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Peregrine Gold Limited, for the year ended 30 June 2024, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

What was audited? 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 18 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf


 

 

 

 

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

William Buck Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 

ABN 67 125 012 124 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Conley Manifis 

Director 

Dated this 30th day of September 2024 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 20 September 2024. 
  
Distribution of equitable securities 
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 
  
    Ordinary shares 
      % of total  
  Total  Number  shares  
  units  of holders  issued  
        
1 to 1,000  105,937  381  0.16  
1,001 to 5,000  881,754  317  1.30  
5,001 to 10,000  1,311,869  165  1.93  
10,001 to 100,000  13,454,655  388  19.82  
100,001 and over  52,124,206  75  76.79  

        
Total  67,878,421  1,326  100.00  

        
Holding less than a marketable parcel  504,611  583  0.74  

  
Equity security holders 
  
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 
  
  Ordinary shares 
     % of total  
     shares 
Ordinary shares  Number held  issued 
     
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd   7,768,887  11.45 
Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd   6,816,373  10.04 
African Mango Pty Ltd   5,760,000  8.49 
BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd  3,142,894  4.63 
Arredo Pty Ltd  3,000,000  4.42 
BNP Paribas Nominees Pty Ltd  1,751,899  2.58 
Al El Developments Pty Ltd  1,414,183  2.08 
Reyne Nominees Pty Ltd  1,250,000  1.84 
C P Hire Pty Ltd  1,081,429  1.59 
Perth Select Seafoods Pty Ltd  1,000,000  1.47 
Beelong Pty Ltd  800,000  1.18 
North West Iron Pty Ltd  800,000  1.18 
Redstone Metals Pty Ltd  760,000  1.12 
Mansfield Park Pty Ltd  640,000  0.94 
Calama Holdings Pty Ltd  629,293  0.93 
Discovex Resources Limited  581,940  0.86 
Beelong Pty Ltd  567,000  0.84 
HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited  565,348  0.83 
GP Securities Pty Ltd  556,784  0.82 
Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  516,814  0.76 

     
Total Top 20  39,402,844  58.05 
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 Options over ordinary 

shares 
     % of total  
     options  
  Number held  issued 
     
Other Holders  28,475,577  41.95 
  
Listed Option holders 
  
Twenty largest quoted option holders 
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted listed options are listed below: 
  
  Listed  
  Options  Options 
     % of total  
     options  
Listed Options  Number held  issued 
     
Argonaut Investments Pty Limited  1,000,000  20.01 
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd  750,000  15.01 
Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd  570,203  11.41 
African Mango Pty Ltd  337,500  6.75 
Perth Select Seafoods Pty Ltd  264,571  5.29 
Beelong Pty Ltd  170,820  3.42 
Reyne Nominees Pty Ltd  165,188  3.31 
Arredo Pty Ltd  150,000  3.00 
Cantori Pty Ltd  150,000  3.00 
Mr Ian Thomas Croft  147,876  2.96 
Josselin Pty Ltd  125,000  2.50 
Argonaut Securities (Nominees) Pty Ltd  116,185  2.32 
Mr Simon Richard Lill  84,054  1.68 
Mejulie Pty Ltd  67,243  1.35 
Mr Brian Leslie Chapman  55,444  1.11 
Beelong Pty Ltd  49,999  1.00 
Westday Enterprises Pty Ltd  47,910  0.96 
Mr Richard John Portlock & Mrs Elizabeth Mary Portlock  46,121  0.92 
Areley Kings Pty Ltd  42,027  0.84 
Pipo Investment Pty Ltd  42,027  0.84 

     
  4,382,168  87.68 

  
  Listed  
  Options  Options 
     % of total  
     options 
  Number held  issued 
     
Other Holders  615,044  12.31 
  
The above quoted listed options have an exercise price of $0.55 with an expiry date of 31 March 2026. 
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      Number of  

Security Type 
 
Expiry Date 

 Exercise 
Price 

 
Options 

       
Unlisted Option Class C Incentive (ULO)  19 March 2025  $0.400   600,000 
Unlisted Option 4 (ULO)  31 December 2025  $0.850   600,000 
Unlisted Option 5 (ULO)  31 December 2024  $0.750   1,815,000 
Unlisted Option 6 (ULO)  30 November 2025  $0.588   610,000 
Unlisted Option 7 (ULO)  30 November 2024  $1.000   50,000 
Unlisted Option 8 (ULO)  24 November 2026  $0.400   500,000 
Unlisted Option 9 (ULO)  24 November 2026  $0.600   500,000 
Unlisted Option 10 (ULO)  24 November 2026  $0.800   500,000 
Unlisted Performance Share A (UPS)  27 August 2026  $0.000  1,000,000 
Unlisted Performance Share B (UPS)  27 August 2026  $0.000  1,500,000 
      7,675,000 

  
The names of the security holders with more than 20% of an unlisted class of security as at the date of this report are listed 
in the following table: 
  
  ULO C $0.40  ULO 4 $0.85  ULO 5 $0.75  ULO 6 $0.588  ULO 7 $1.00 
Holder  19 Mar 2025  31 Dec 2025  31 Dec 2024  30 Nov 2025  30 Nov 2024 
           
Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd  400,000  -  -  -  - 
Mr Peter Woodman &  200,000  -  -  -  - 
Ms Denise Elizabeth Pringle  -  600,000  -  -  - 
Ms Sabina Marie Schlink  -  -  1,815,000  -  - 
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd  -  -  -  200,000  - 
Mr Stephen Vallance  -  -  -  -  50,000 

  600,000  600,000  1,815,000  200,000  50,000 

           
Other holders  -  -  -  410,000  - 

           
  600,000  600,000  1,815,000  610,000  50,000 

  
  ULO 8 $0.40  ULO 9 $0.60  ULO 9 $0.80  UPS A  UPS B 
Holder  24 Nov 2026  24 Nov 2026  24 Nov 2026  27 Aug 2027  27 Aug 2027 
           
Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd  500,000  500,000  500,000  -  - 
African Mango Pty Ltd  -  -  -  900,000  1,350,000 
  500,000  500,000  500,000  900,000  1,350,000 

           
Other holders  -  -  -  100,000  150,000 

           
  500,000  500,000  500,000  1,000,000  1,500,000 

  
Substantial holders 
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below: 
  
  Ordinary shares 
     % of total  
     shares 
  Number held  issued 
     
Yandal Investments Pty Ltd  7,768,887  11.45 
Bann Geological Services Pty Ltd  6,816,373  10.04 
African Mango Pty Ltd  5,760,000  8.49 
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Voting rights 
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 
  
Ordinary shares 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share 
shall have one vote. 
  
There are no other classes of equity securities. 
  
Buy-Back 
There was no on-market buy back during the period. 
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Summary of Mining Tenements 
  
As at 30 September 2024, the Company has an interest in the following projects: 
  

Project Name 
 
Permit Number 

 Percentage 
Interest 

 
Status 

       
Newman Gold Project, Western Australia  E52/3783  100%   Granted 
  E52/3785  100%   Granted 
  E52/3786  100%   Granted 
  E52/3826  100%   Granted 
  E52/3828  100%   Granted 
  E52/3841  100%   Granted 
  E52/3850  100%   Granted 
  E52/3932  100%   Granted 
  E52/3933  100%   Granted 
  E52/3951  100%   Granted 
  E52/3952  100%   Granted 
  E52/3953  100%   Granted 
  E52/4008  100%   Granted 
  E52/4009  100%   Granted 
  E47/4311  100%   Granted 
  E52/3370  100%   Granted 
  E52/3755  100%   Granted 
  E52/2933  100%   Granted 
  E52/3396  100%   Granted 
  E52/3097  100%   Granted 
  E52/3570  100%   Granted 
  E52/3911  100%   Granted 
  E52/3958  100%   Application 
  E52/4007  100%   Application 
  E52/4156  100%   Application 
  E52/4157  100%   Application 
  E52/4249  100%   Application 
  E52/4252  100%   Application 
  E52/4299  100%   Application 
  E52/4300  100%   Application 
  E52/4268  100%   Application 
Stoney Creek, Pilbara, Western Australia  E45/2763  100%   Granted 
Mallina Gold Project, Pilbara, Western Australia  E45/5399  100%   Granted 
  E45/5400  100%   Granted 
  E45/5424  100%   Granted 
  E45/5780  100%   Granted 
  E45/6306  100%   Application 
  E45/6307  100%   Application 
  E45/6308  100%   Application 
  E45/6312  100%   Application 
Egina, Pilbara, Western Australia  E47/3812  100%   Granted 
Rocklea Project, Pilbara, Western Australia  E47/3797  100%   Granted 
Comet East, Pilbara, Western Australia  E45/4922  100%   Application 
Pilgangoora North, Western Australia  E45/5775  100%   Granted 
Other, Western Australia  E45/6314  100%   Application 
  




